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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
 

Case No. 15-CIV-22692-Ungaro/Otazo-Reyes 

 

PEOPLE FOR THE ETHICAL TREATMENT OF 
ANIMALS, INC., ANIMAL LEGAL DEFENSE 
FUND, HOWARD GARRETT, and ORCA 
NETWORK, 
 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 

MIAMI SEAQUARIUM and FESTIVAL FUN 
PARKS, LLC, d/b/a PALACE 
ENTERTAINMENT, 
 

Defendants.  

 

 

DEFFENDANT MIAMI SEAQUARIUM’S MOTION IN LIMINE TO EXCLUDE ALL 
EVIDENCE, TESTIMONY, AND ARGUMENT REGARDING PLAINTIFFS’ DOLPHIN 

INCOMPATIBILTY ALLEGATIONS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO DISMISS SUCH 
ALLEGATIONS FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND 

INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW 
 

Defendant Festival Fun Parks, LLC d/b/a Palace Entertainment d/b/a Miami Seaquarium 

(“Miami Seaquarium”), pursuant to Rule 403 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, Rule 12(b)(1) and 

12(h)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and the citizen suit provision of the Endangered 

Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), respectfully moves in limine to preclude Plaintiffs People for 

the Ethical Treatment of Animals, Inc. (“PETA”); Animal Legal Defense Fund (“ALDF”); 

Howard Garrett; and Orca Network (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) from introducing evidence, 

testimony and argument at trial regarding Plaintiffs’ jurisdictionally-deficient claim in paragraphs 

65, 74 and 76 of the Complaint [D.E. 1] that Miami Seaquarium is responsible for “take” arising 

from the alleged incompatibility of the dolphins in the pool with the orca Lolita a/k/a Toki 
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(“Toki’) and/or alleged actions of the dolphins towards Toki (collectively, the “Dolphin 

Incompatibility Claim”).  

The citizen suit provisions of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) grant this Court 

subject matter jurisdiction only to the extent that Plaintiffs provided sufficient pre-suit notice of 

their anticipated allegations.  16 U.S.C. § 1540(g).  Because Plaintiffs’ May 11, 2015 notice letter 

to Miami Seaquarium wholly failed to include any assertion or discussion of the Dolphin 

Incompatibility Claim (the letter did not even motion the word “dolphin”), the Court consequently 

lacks jurisdiction over this allegation.  Therefore, any such evidence, testimony and argument 

offered in support of it must be excluded under the Federal Rules of Evidence. 

In the alternative to this motion in limine, Miami Seaquarium moves to dismiss the 

Dolphin Incompatibility Claim pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 

12(h)(3).  Indeed, a motion challenging jurisdiction may be filed at any time.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(g)(2) and (h)(3).  

Miami Seaquarium incorporates the memorandum of law below in support of this motion.  

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

I. CASE BACKGROUND AND PRE-SUIT NOTICE REQUIREMENT 

A. Plaintiffs’ May 11, 2015 Notice is Silent as to the “Incompatible Animal” 
Allegation, Which First Appears in the July 2015 Complaint. 

On May 11, 2015, the very first day the ESA’s take prohibitions became applicable to 

Toki, Plaintiffs sprinted from the starting blocks and immediately sent a notice of intent to file an 

ESA citizen suit (“Notice”) to the National Marine Fisheries Service (“NMFS”) and Miami 

Seaquarium.  See Complaint [D.E. 1], Ex. A.1  Plaintiffs’ Notice characterized Miami 

Seaquarium’s care, housing, and treatment of Toki (Lolita) as amounting to a “take” under 16 

U.S.C. § 1538(a), and listed three specific ways in which Miami Seaquarium violated the ESA’s 

“take” prohibition:  

(1) “Seaquarium confines Lolita to a woefully inadequate tank” (Notice pp. 2-3);  

(2) “Seaquarium fails to provide Lolita with protection from the sun” (Id. at 3); and  

(3) “Seaquarium isolates Lolita from any other member of her species” (Id. at 4).   

                                            
1   See Final Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 7,380 (Feb. 10, 2015) (stating that rule extending the Southern 

Resident Killer Whale “endangered listing” to Toki would be effective on May 11, 2015).  
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Plaintiffs stated each of these three matters as headings within the Notice and then within each 

heading provided supporting detail.  Nowhere in the Notice did Plaintiffs mention dolphins.   

When Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on July 20, 2015, the Complaint’s “General 

Allegations” largely mirrored the three delineated allegations set forth in their Notice.  More 

specifically, Paragraphs 41 through 46 of the Complaint allege that Miami Seaquarium confines 

Toki to an inadequate tank.  Paragraphs 47 through 56 allege that Miami Seaquarium fails to 

provide Toki protection from the sun.  Paragraphs 57 through 64 allege that Miami Seaquarium 

isolates Toki from other members of her species.  The Complaint uses much of the same language 

as the Plaintiffs’ Notice; in fact, Plaintiffs went so far as to incorporate the Notice’s same three 

headings into the Complaint as a way to signal and introduce each “section” of the three 

allegations.  Compare Compl. ¶¶ 41, 47, and 57 with Notice, pp. 2-4.  

Of particular importance to this Motion is the fact that, despite Plaintiffs’ other efforts to 

mirror in the Complaint Plaintiffs’ three core allegations set forth in the Notice, one allegation at 

the very end of the Complaint’s “General Allegations” section goes beyond the allegations set 

forth in the Notice.  That single paragraph states, “Seaquarium holds Lolita with numerous Pacific 

white-sided dolphins, a species with which Lolita is not compatible and would not interact in the 

wild. Upon information and belief, Seaquarium’s forced pairing of Lolita and these dolphins 

causes additional stress and physical harm to Lolita.”  Compl. ¶ 65.  Plaintiffs later incorporate 

this “incompatible animal” allegation into its two subsequent general claims that “Seaquarium’s 

ongoing practice of keeping Lolita in a small, barren, and unprotected tank, deprived of 

interaction with a member of her own species, and with incompatible animals violates [the ESA’s 

prohibitions].” Compl. at ¶¶ 74, 76 (emphasis added).    

Initially, Plaintiffs’ discovery efforts in this case focused primarily on the three core 

allegations set forth in the Notice.  When Plaintiffs touched briefly on the Dolphin Incompatibility 

Claim early in discovery, Miami Seaquarium immediately raised the jurisdictional deficiency.  

Specifically, on October 23, 2015, Plaintiffs served a request for production of documents that 

included one request for documents regarding “compatibility with any non-orca in the same tank.” 

On November 25, 2015, Miami Seaquarium specifically objected to that request on the same 

jurisdictional grounds now raised in this Motion (and citing case law cited in this Motion).2  The 

                                            
2
   Excerpts from Defendant’s Answers and Objections to Plaintiffs’ First Request for Production 

of Documents (which restate Request No. 30) are attached hereto as Exhibit A to this Motion. 
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ancillary Dolphin Incompatibility Claim set forth in paragraph 65, however, gained prominence 

during the final two weeks of discovery in this case when Plaintiffs’ experts focused heavily on 

this claim in their expert reports served on February 8, 2016 and depositions commenced.3   

B. The ESA Confers Federal Subject Matter Jurisdiction Only After Fulfilling 
the Statutory Pre-Suit Notice Requirement.  

Plaintiffs’ failure to include the Dolphin Incompatibility Claim in its Notice is fatal to the 

Court’s jurisdiction to consider it.  Plaintiffs filed this litigation pursuant to ESA’s citizen suit 

provision, which provides that “any person may commence a civil suit on his own behalf . . . to 

enjoin any person . . . who is alleged to be in violation of any provision of this chapter or 

regulation issued under the authority thereof.”  16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(A).  This statute expressly 

provides that no action may be commenced “prior to sixty days after written notice of the 

violation has been given to the Secretary, and to any alleged violator of any such provision or 

regulation.”  Id. § 1540(g)(2)(A)(i).   

The ESA’s notice requirement serves two purposes:  First, it “allows Government agencies 

to take responsibility for enforcing environmental regulations, thus obviating the need for citizen 

suits.”  Hallstrom v. Tillamook Cnty., 493 U.S. 20, 29 (1989).  Second, it “gives the alleged 

violator ‘an opportunity to bring itself into complete compliance with the Act and thus likewise 

render unnecessary a citizen suit.’”  Id. (quoting Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay 

Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 60 (1987)). See also Sw. Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. U.S. Bureau of 

Reclamation (“Sw. Ctr.”), 143 F.3d 515, 520 (9th Cir. 1998) (“The provision therefore provides 

an opportunity for settlement or other resolution of a dispute without litigation.” (citation 

omitted)); Washington Trout v. McCain Foods, Inc., 45 F.3d 1351, 1354 (9th Cir. 1995) (stating 

the purpose of the notice provision is “to allow the parties time to resolve their conflicts in a 

nonadversarial time period,” because once a suit is filed, “positions harden and compromise is 

less likely”).  

The ESA’s sixty-day notice requirement is jurisdictional; failure to strictly comply with 

the notice requirement is an absolute bar to bringing suit.  Sw. Ctr., 143 F.3d at 520 (citing 

                                            
3
  Copies of  Plaintiffs’ expert reports were attached  as exhibits to Defendant’s Daubert motions 

to exclude the testimony of Plaintiffs’ designated experts Maddalena Bearzi, Pierre Gallego, 
John Hargrove, and Ingrid Visser, all of whom address the alleged Dolphin Incompatibility 
Claim.  See D.E. 117 (Ex. A), 118 (Ex. A), 119 (Ex. A) and 120 (Ex. A) – ALL SEALED 
DOCUMENTS.    
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Hallstrom, 493 U.S. at 26-28).  If, and only if, sufficient notice of a specific violation has been 

provided, and the mandatory waiting period has expired, a lawsuit “may be brought in the judicial 

district in which the violation occurs,” 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A), triggering the district court’s 

jurisdiction “to enforce any such provision or regulation.”  Id. § 1540(g)(1).  A plaintiff’s failure 

to provide a defendant sufficiently detailed notice of alleged ESA violations in its pre-suit notice 

results in dismissal of the errant claims for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction.  “This is especially 

so where any inequity that purportedly inflicts a plaintiff is one of their own making.”  Proie v. 

Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 2012 WL 1536756 at *4 (W.D. Wash. 2012) (citing Hallstrom, 493 

U.S. at 27).  See also Nat’l Envtl. Found. v. ABC Rail Corp., 926 F.2d 1096 (11th Cir. 1991) 

(relying on Hallstrom to hold that Clean Water Act citizen suit provisions are mandatory 

preconditions to filing suit); Defenders of Wildlife v. Bureau of Energy Mgmt., Regulation, and 

Enforcement, 791 F. Supp. 2d 1158, 1181 (S.D. Ala. 2011) (finding the ESA’s notice requirement 

to be jurisdictional); Alabama v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 441 F. Supp. 2d 1123, 1129 

(N.D. Ala. 2006) (“The sixty-day notice requirement [of the ESA] is jurisdictional.”); Birdsong v. 

City of Birmingham, 2014 WL 4825247 at *2 (N.D. Ala. 2014) (ordering dismissal on 

jurisdictional grounds where a plaintiff filed an ESA complaint without having given any requisite 

notice whatsoever).  

Two of the organization Plaintiffs in this case, PETA and ALDF, are well aware of the 

significance of this pre-suit notice requirement and the strict jurisdictional implications of failing 

to comply with it.  In fact, they were parties to the Proie case referenced above in which their 

earlier claims relating to the alleged mistreatment of Toki were dismissed for this very reason.  

See 2012 WL 1536756 at *4.  (“[T]he equities do not weigh in favor of modifying statutory 

requirements when the procedural default is caused by petitioners’ failure to take the minimal 

steps necessary to preserve their claims.” (quoting Hallstrom, 493 U.S. at 27)).4   

  

                                            
4
   A copy of the Proie decision is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  PETA, ALDF and the other 

plaintiffs in that case appealed the dismissal to the Ninth Circuit, and then voluntarily 
dismissed their appeal pursuant to a procedural settlement that contemplated Plaintiffs would 
file an administrative petition with NMFS relating to Toki.  See Proie Order, Case No. 12-
35433 (U.S.C.A. 9th Cir., Feb. 21, 2014).  The jurisdictional dismissal in the Proie case was 
not vacated and the order referenced above is still highly relevant and persuasive law in this 
case. 
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II. STANDARDS OF REVIEW  

A. The Court Has the Broad Discretion to Preclude Evidence in Anticipation of 
Trial. 

The district court has broad discretion in determining the admissibility of evidence.  See 

Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 152-53 (1999).  The Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure provide, in pertinent part, that the Rules “shall be construed and administered to secure 

the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 1.  Although not 

specifically provided for by the Federal Rules, federal trial courts have the inherent power to 

make in limine evidentiary rulings pursuant to their authority to manage the course of trials.  See 

Luce v. U.S., 469 U.S. 38 (1984), citing Fed. R. Evid. 103(c).  The general purpose of a motion in 

limine is “to aid the trial process by enabling the Court to rule in advance of trial on the relevance 

of certain forecasted evidence, as to issues that are definitely set for trial, without lengthy 

argument at, or interruption of, the trial.”  Royale Green Condominium Ass’n, Inc. v. Aspen 

Specialty Ins. Co., 2009 WL 2208166 (S.D. Fla. 2009) (citing Highland Capital Mgmt, L.P. v. 

Schneider, 551 F. Supp. 2d 173, 176 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)).  “Relevant evidence” is evidence which 

has a “tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of 

the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”  Fed. R. Evid. 

401.  “Irrelevant evidence is not admissible” at trial.  Fed. R. Evid. 402.  Even relevant evidence 

may be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair 

prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, 

waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”  Fed. R. Evid. 403. 

B. Plaintiffs Bear the Burden of Establishing Subject Matter Jurisdiction and 
May Be Required to Do So at Any Time During This Litigation Under Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 12(b)(1), 12(g)(2) and 12(h)(3). 

Federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction and the law presumes that “a cause lies 

outside this limited jurisdiction.”  Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co., 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994).  

On a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, even 

though a defendant moves to dismiss the complaint, the plaintiff bears the burden of establishing 

jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence.  See Taylor v. Appleton, 30 F.3d 1365, 1367 

(11th Cir. 1994) (holding that plaintiff bears burden of establishing subject matter jurisdiction); 

see also Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992); Weaver v. Soc. Sec. Admin., 2013 
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WL 6589897, at *4 (N.D. Ga. 2013).  A motion to dismiss based on lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction can be raised at any time.  Wein v. St. Lucie Cty., Fla., 461 F. Supp. 2d 1261, 1262 

(S.D. Fla. 2006) (“[I]t is well established that issues concerning subject matter jurisdiction can be 

raised at anytime.” (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) & 12(h)(3) and Baker Oil Tools, Inc. v. Delta 

S.S. Lines, Inc., 562 F.2d 938, 940 (5th Cir. 1977)); see also, In re Waterfront License 

Corporation, 231 F.R.D. 693 (S.D. Fla. 2005).  

III. LAW AND ARGUMENT  
A. The Sixty-Day Notice is a Simple, but Strict, Requirement That Plaintiffs Failed 

to Fulfill 

Plaintiffs’ May 11, 2015 Notice fully failed to identify, list, describe, or mention their 

allegation that the presence of Pacific white-sided dolphins – or any other marine animal, for that 

matter – was resulting in alleged unlawful harm to Toki.  In fact, the Notice never once uses the 

word “dolphin.”  Without such information, Miami Seaquarium was in no position to know that 

Plaintiffs would bring suit on such grounds. 

The law is clear that when a notice “[tells] the defendant that it had committed one 

specific violation, the defendant [is] not ‘required to speculate as to all possible attacks . . . that 

might be added to a citizen suit’ at a later time.”  Ctr. For Biological Diversity v. Marina Point 

Dev. Co., 566 F.3d 794, 802 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting ONRC Action v. Columbia Plywood, Inc., 

286 F.3d 1137, 1143 (9th Cir. 2002)). The importance of a proper ESA notice – and the fatal 

jurisdictional result of a lack thereof – was examined in the Ninth Circuit case Southwest Center 

for Biological Diversity v. U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 143 F.3d 515 (9th Cir. 1998).  In that 

case, plaintiff sent three letters to the Department of the Interior and the Bureau of Reclamation 

notifying them “[a]t most” that “Southwest (1) desired consultation over Reclamation’s operations 

in the Lower Colorado River and (2) felt that the [Memorandum of Agreement for Development 

of a Lower Colorado River Species Conservation Program] contravened the policies and dictates 

of the ESA.”  Id. at 521.  The plaintiff then filed suit under the ESA seeking an order that would 

protect the Southwestern Willow Flycatcher by requiring a lower water level of Lake Mead, the 

Colorado River reservoir behind Hoover Dam.  Id. at 519.  When this un-noticed claim was 

challenged, the plaintiff argued that “it was not required to list every specific aspect or detail of 

every alleged violation relied upon in the complaint.”  Id. at 522.  The Ninth Circuit held that the 

plaintiff’s notice letters were inadequate because “none of [them] informed the [federal 
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defendants] that Southwest had a grievance about the Flycatcher habitat at the Lake Mead delta,” 

and despite the fact that the plaintiff had sent three letters purporting to provide the requisite 

notice, it had failed to provide notice as to the specific claim it later pled.  Id. at 521-22.  The 

Court stated that “at a minimum,” the plaintiff was “obligated to provide sufficient information of 

a violation so that the Secretary or Reclamation could identify and attempt to abate the violation.” 

Id. at 522.  

The holding in Southwest Center is representative of the federal courts’ greater pattern of 

finding lack of jurisdiction where a plaintiff’s faulty notice divests a defendant of any pre-suit 

opportunity to remedy, looking to “whether, ‘[i]n practical terms, the notice [was] sufficiently 

specific to inform the alleged violator about what it [was] doing wrong, so that it [knew] what 

corrective actions [would] avert a lawsuit.’”  ONRC Action v. Columbia Plywood, Inc., 286 F.3d 

1137, 1143 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing Natural Res. Def. Council, 236 F.3d 985, 996 (9th Cir. 2000)); 

see also S. Yuba River Citizens League v. NMFS, 2007 WL 3034887, *8-9 (E.D. Cal. 2007) (court 

lacked jurisdiction over claim that agency violated ESA by relying on faulty 2002 and 2007 

biological opinions where notice identified only the 2002 biological opinion), aff’d, 127 Fed. 

Appx. 993 (9th Cir. 2005); Pulaski v. Chrisman, 352 F. Supp. 2d 1105, 1115-16 (C.D. Cal. 2005) 

(notice deficient because it did not identify species allegedly taken in violation of ESA); Common 

Sense Salmon Recovery v. Evans, 329 F. Supp. 2d 96, 104 (D.D.C. 2004) (ESA notice deficient 

because it did not identify “claim set forth in plaintiffs’ third cause of action”).  

The United States Supreme Court and various district courts within the Eleventh Circuit 

have demanded comparable specificity in order to trigger subject matter jurisdiction where other 

federal statutes, such as the Clean Air Act and the Clean Water Act, require plaintiffs to fulfill 

similar sixty-day pre-suit notice requirements.  See Hallstrom, 493 U.S. at 23 n.1 (1989) (counting 

ESA’s citizen suit notice provision in a long list of other federal statutes that incorporate sixty-day 

notice requirements patterned after § 304 of the Clean Air Act, including the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act, which the Supreme Court found required dismissal of plaintiff’s 

claims for failure to comply with notice prerequisites).  For example, in National Parks & 

Conservation Association v. Tennessee Valley Authority, plaintiffs accused the Tennessee Valley 

Authority of having violated a subpart of the Clean Air Act which set emissions standards for 

several pollutants, including sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide, and particulate matter.  502 F.3d 

1316, 1328-29 (11th Cir. 2007).  The Eleventh Circuit found that the notice requirement was to be 

Case 1:15-cv-22692-UU   Document 144   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/18/2016   Page 8 of 16



9 

“strictly construed to give the alleged violator the opportunity to correct the problem before a 

lawsuit is filed,” and found the plaintiff’s notice letter to be inadequate because it failed to provide 

enough information “to identify the allegedly violated standards, dates of violation, and relevant 

activities with the degree of specificity required by the regulations.”  Id. at 1329.  See also Palm 

Beach Cnty. Envtl. Coal. v. Florida, 651 F. Supp. 2d 1328, 1337 (S.D. Fla. 2009) (discussing a 

similar Clean Air Act sixty-day notice provision and dismissing an un-noticed claim as a result);  

Atwell v. KW Plastics Recycling Div., 173 F. Supp. 2d 1213, 1221 (M.D. Ala. 2001) (examining 

both flexible and strict interpretative approaches and finding that “[a] strict interpretive approach 

is the proper way to address the sufficiency of notice issue” for the Clean Water Act’s similar 

notice requirement); Tani v. Walter Energy, Inc., 2014 WL 6473441, at *4 (N.D. Ala. 2014) 

(dismissing claims requiring similar pre-suit notice for lack of subject matter jurisdiction: “Even 

had plaintiff waited the required 60 days . . . the notice letter is substantively defective because it 

fails to identify any specific portion of the statutes allegedly violated.”).  

While Plaintiffs will undoubtedly attempt to argue that their orca companionship claims in 

the Notice were sufficient to place Miami Seaquarium on notice of their intent to assert their 

Dolphin Incompatibility Claim based upon a line of cases that have permitted, in very limited 

cases, claims asserted in a pre-suit notice to be expanded, this is not one of those cases.  More 

specifically, in instances where federal courts have allowed an ESA violation challenged for lack 

of specific notice to remain as part of a litigant’s claims, there has been convincing evidence that 

the party receiving the notice understood the full nature of the complaints and violations.  For 

instance, in Loggerhead Turtle v. County Council of Volusia County, Florida, plaintiffs’ suit 

accused the county of committing an improper “take” under the ESA by failing to ban beach 

driving and by having installed artificial beachfront lighting, which was allegedly detrimentally 

affecting hatchling turtles.  148 F.3d 1231, 1235 (11th Cir. 1998).  While plaintiffs’ notice to the 

county had mentioned three species of turtles, the alleged violations section only focused on two.  

Id. at 1255-56.  When plaintiffs moved to add a third type of turtle – the leatherback turtle – to its 

complaint, the Eleventh Circuit rejected the county’s jurisdictional challenge and found the 

plaintiffs’ notice letter to have been sufficient for ESA purposes.  Id.  Notably, the county itself 

had included the leatherback turtle in its incidental take permit and that the county’s pre-suit 

opportunity to comply with the alleged ESA violations would have been the same with or without 

the notice of the leatherback turtle.  As a result, the court found that “the letter as a whole 
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provided notice sufficient to afford the opportunity to rectify the asserted ESA violations.”  Id. at 

1256, n.29 (citing Marbled Murrelet v. Babbitt, 83 F.3d 1068, 1073 (9th Cir.1996)).  

Similarly, courts from other jurisdictions have, on occasion, found notice to be sufficient 

where a defendant is in a position to know, better than a plaintiff, where and when an activity 

consistent with an alleged ESA violation is taking place.  San Francisco BayKeeper, Inc. v. Tosco 

Corp., 309 F.3d 1153, 1155-1158 (9th Cir. 2002) (finding sufficient notice where plaintiff stated 

violations occurred at various times over an extended period and cited some specific dates as a 

non-exclusive list of examples: “Tosco is obviously in a better position than BayKeeper to 

identify the exact dates, or additional dates, of its own ship loading” – key is whether notice 

provided “enough information that the defendant can identify and correct the problem”); Cmty. 

Ass’n for Restoration of the Env’t v. Henry Bosma Dairy, 305 F.3d 943 (9th Cir. 2002) (finding 

sufficient notice where plaintiff’s notice listed twelve of the later-claimed forty-four dates on 

which defendants were accused of manure discharges).  

The facts of this case are far different from the facts at issue in the Loggerhead Turtle and 

other cases noted above.  In these cases, the plaintiffs did not attempt to add new claims to the 

ones asserted in this pre-suit notice.  Instead, they merely attempted to add additional factual 

support for claims that were asserted in the pre-suit notice, facts which were known by the 

defendant in that case, as evidenced by its take permit.  Similarly, in the Tosco and Cmty. Ass’n 

cases, the notices were deemed to be sufficient, despite the defendants’ challenges, because the 

defendants were deemed to have received adequate notice of the claims, even if some factual 

details supporting the claims were lacking in the notices.  Here, Plaintiffs are trying to do 

something entirely different.  They are attempting to morph their lack of orca companionship 

claim into a substantively different Dolphin Incompatibility Claim, thereby asserting a claim for 

which no adequate pre-suit notice was provided.  This is improper.  See Southwest Center and 

other cases cited supra at 6-8 (focus of the notice needs to be on what the defendant is allegedly 

doing wrong so that a defendant can attempt to address the alleged wrong).   

Unlike the Loggerhead Turtle, Tosco, and Cmty. Ass’n cases referenced supra, the two 

alleged ESA violations (i.e., lack of an orca companion and incompatibility with the Pacific 

white-sided dolphins) are entirely different and focus on entirely different facts.  The lack of orca 

companionship claim, on the one hand, focuses on the alleged need for Toki to be housed with 

another orca whale and the alleged physical and psychological harm that Plaintiffs contend Toki 
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has suffered as a result of being deprived of such contact with her same species.  See Notice, p. 4.  

The Dolphin Incompatibility Claim, in contrast, focuses on the alleged “forced pairing” of Toki 

with Pacific white-sided dolphins, a species with which Plaintiffs contend Toki is not compatible 

and allegedly would not interact in the wild and the stress that this supposed forced pairing has 

caused Toki.  The evidence needed to support and rebut these two distinct claims differs, as does 

the law that would need to be considered in resolving such claims.  Thus, under Southwest Center 

and Ctr. For Biological Diversity, any claims relating to alleged dolphin incompatibility should be 

excluded as a matter of law.  

Although Plaintiffs may argue that exclusion of these claims would be unfair, they have no 

one to blame for this result but themselves.  As noted above, Plaintiffs have been battling with the 

Miami Seaquarium for years regarding Toki’s care and housing conditions.  They have filed 

multiple legal proceedings regarding the Miami Seaquarium’s care and treatment of Toki and had 

every opportunity to serve an effective pre-suit notice with Miami Seaquarium – one which would 

have provided Miami Seaquarium with the requisite pre-litigation opportunity, as is its right under 

the ESA, to consider curing their “incompatible animals” allegation.  They did not.  This omission 

is particularly egregious in light of the fact that Plaintiffs PETA and ALDF were parties to the 

Proie case involving a highly similar challenge to Miami Seaquarium’s care and treatment of 

Toki and possess undeniable knowledge of the consequences of failing to provide a proper pre-

suit notice.   

Moreover, the prejudice to the Miami Seaquarium of allowing this Dolphin 

Incompatibility Claim to be raised for the first time in Plaintiffs’ Complaint and be developed 

only during the final two weeks of discovery in this case would be great.  While the Animal 

Welfare Act rules require the provision of cetacean companionship, 9 CFR § 3.109, and some sort 

of waiver of that rule might have been necessary to remove the Pacific white-sided dolphins from 

the pool, removal of the Pacific white-sided dolphins from Toki’s pool would at least have been 

physically possible if proper notice of such a claim had been made in a timely manner.  By 

contrast, there is no realistic way to acquire another orca to satisfy Plaintiffs’ demand that another 

orca be housed with Toki.  See discussion of this in Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and for 

Judgment on the Pleadings [D.E. 25] at 15-16.  With sufficient notice, Miami Seaquarium could 

have had adequate time to consider the merits of such a possible resolution of this claim and the 
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parties could have saved time, money, and other resources expended during the final two weeks of 

discovery in this case on this improperly raised issue. 

Additionally, the government was also entitled to adequate notice of Plaintiffs’ 

contemplated citizen suit – this is a key part of the jurisdictional requirement.  16 U.S.C. § 

1540(g)(2); see Hallstrom, supra.  Had the government received notice of Plaintiffs’ Dolphin 

Incompatibility Claim, it could have considered whether it wanted to exercise its paramount right 

to bring suit, thereby precluding a citizen suit.  Id.  The critical information conveyed by the 

government’s decision not to file suit in response to a plaintiff’s pre-suit notice is obviously of 

fundamental importance to the prospective defendant in deciding how to respond to the pre-suit 

notice.  Here, the government decided not to file suit against Miami Seaquarium in response to the 

narrow Notice that Plaintiffs did serve.  The government’s decision played a substantial role in 

Miami Seaquarium’s determination to defend this case on the merits, rather than to seek some 

non-litigation resolution, such as by applying for a precautionary permit from NMFS under 16 

U.S.C. § 1539 and moving to stay the litigation while the permit application was considered.  By 

not including the Dolphin Incompatibility Claim in their Notice, Plaintiffs substantially 

undermined the statutory pre-suit resolution process by preventing the government from 

evaluating the full sets of claims that Plaintiffs ultimately included in their Complaint, which in 

turn prevented Miami Seaquarium from receiving and considering the government’s evaluation of 

the omitted Dolphin Incompatibility Claim.   

Finally, permitting Plaintiffs to circumvent the pre-suit notice provisions of the ESA 

would encourage Plaintiffs, as well as other animal rights activists, to engage in similar tactics in 

the future.  This would undermine both the letter and the spirit of the ESA citizen suit pre-suit 

notice provisions whose purpose is to afford a party a full sixty days to evaluate a notice of intent 

letter outside of litigation and enable the party to take action which may “render a citizen suit 

unnecessary.”  Marbled Murrelet, 83 F.3d at 1072 (citations omitted).  Because Plaintiffs’ 

insufficient Notice deprived Miami Seaquarium the opportunity to remedy the “incompatible 

animal” allegation, and deprived the government of the opportunity to consider it, the 

jurisdictional consequences of such deprivation are that this incurable error bars Plaintiffs from 

pursuing this theory at trial and any such claims should either be dismissed from this case for lack 

of subject matter jurisdiction or, at a bare minimum, be excluded from the trial of this case.  
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B. Plaintiffs Must be Precluded From Arguing or Introducing Evidence 
Supporting its Allegation that So-Called “Incompatible Animals” Contributed 
to or Constituted a Violation of the ESA. 

Regardless of whether the Dolphin Incompatibility Claim is dismissed or precluded 

entirely from this case, Miami Seaquarium fully anticipates that Plaintiffs will attempt to 

introduce evidence pertaining to the dolphins and their “incompatibility” with Toki or the 

dolphins’ alleged detrimental effects on Toki’s health in connection with their other claims.  

However, without subject matter jurisdiction over the Plaintiffs’ dolphin-related allegation, 

allowing Plaintiffs to introduce testimony or other evidence that seeks to indirectly support or 

otherwise prove that allegation ultimately only serves to unlawfully expand the Court’s 

jurisdiction and the scope of this litigation, as that evidence is not relevant to the remaining 

claims.  Thus, any such alleged incompatibility testimony, evidence, or argument must be 

precluded for lack of relevance and its certainty to result in unfair prejudice to Miami 

Seaquarium.  See Fed. R. Evid. 402 and 403. 

“Relevant evidence” is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact 

that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it 

would be without the evidence,” and “[e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Lane v. 

McKeithen, 423 F. App’x 903, 905 (11th Cir. 2011) (quoting Fed. R. Evid. 401 and 402).  In the 

absence of relevance, courts have held that withdrawn or dismissed claims or defenses are the 

proper subject of motions in limine.  See Perkins v. Silver Mountain Sports Club and Spa, LLC, 

557 F.3d 1141, 1150 (10th Cir. 2009) (affirming district court’s granting of party’s motion in 

limine “to preclude any evidence or reference by either party to the withdrawn defamation claim 

and to its own dismissed counterclaims”); see also Andazola v. Logan’s Roadhouse, Inc., 2013 

WL 1834308 at *1 (N.D. Ala. 2013); McGinnis v. Am. Home Mortg. Servicing, Inc., 2013 WL 

3964916 at *2 (M.D. Ga. 2013). 

Courts should exclude irrelevant evidence to avoid waste of judicial resources as well as 

unfair prejudice to defendants.  In Johnson v. Alabama Community College System, female 

plaintiffs sought to introduce evidence related to their dismissed discrimination claims to support 

their remaining equal protection claims, such as evidence that male employees were paid higher 

salaries.  2011 WL 5078771 at *2 (M.D. Ala. 2011).  Granting the defendant’s motion in limine, 

the court held that such evidence was inadmissible because the individuals were not comparators 
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as defined by Eleventh Circuit law.  Id. at *3.  Additionally, the court held that even if the 

evidence was somehow relevant, “any probative value of the relative pay and job duties of these 

persons would be substantially outweighed under Rule 403 by the very real danger of unfair 

prejudice, confusion of the issues, and considerations of undue delay and waste of time.”  Id.  The 

same exclusion is appropriate here, as the evidence related to Plaintiffs’ “incompatible animal” 

allegation is wholly irrelevant to Plaintiffs’ remaining claims.  

Even if arguendo the information is or becomes relevant, Rule 403 calls for the exclusion 

of relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of “unfair 

prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, 

waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”  Since admission of dolphin-

related evidence would in fact only be relevant as to Plaintiffs’ improper “incompatible animal” 

allegation, and because the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over that allegation, it is not 

only a real danger but a near certainty that the introduction of testimony relating to the dolphins or 

to “incompatible animals” would result in confusing the issues and misleading the bench.  

Accordingly, any testimony or evidence related to the “incompatible animal” claim should be 

excluded, since it will simply not be part of the “lack of orca companionship” claim that remains 

for decision.  

IV. CONCLUSION 

As the plain language of 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) indicates, the Court possesses jurisdiction in 

this case only to the extent that Plaintiffs provided sufficient notice of any alleged violations of 

the ESA, and consequently the Plaintiffs’ failure to include in their sixty-day Notice a very public 

and well-known aspect of Miami Seaquarium’s operations is fatal to that un-noticed claim.  Given 

that this Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ “incompatible animal” 

allegation, any reference, evidence, or testimony supporting this allegation must be dismissed 

from this case pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) and 12(h)(3) and/or precluded for lack of 

relevance pursuant to Fed. R. Evid. 401, 402 and 403, where the certainty of unfair prejudice to 

the Defendant far outweighs its dwindling, if any, probative value.  
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING PRE-FILING CONFERENCE 

Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(a)(3), undersigned counsel for Miami Seaquarium certify that 

they have conferred with Plaintiffs in a good faith effort to resolve the issues raised in this Motion 

and can state that Plaintiffs oppose the relief requested herein. 

Dated: March 18, 2016   Respectfully submitted, 
   
 
 

/s/ Mark A. Salky    
Mark A. Salky, Esq. 
Florida Bar No. 058221 
salkym@gtlaw.com 
Evelyn A. Cobos, Esq. 
Florida Bar No. 92310 
cobose@gtlaw.com 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A. 
333 S.E. 2nd Avenue 
Miami, Florida 33131 
Telephone: (305) 579-0500 

 
Jennifer B. Moore, Esq. (Pro hac vice) 
moorej@gtlaw.com 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
Terminus 200 
3333 Piedmont Road NE 
Suite 2500 
Atlanta, GA 30305 
Telephone: (678) 553-2100 

 
James H. Lister, Esq. (Pro hac vice) 
jlister@dc.bhb.com  
Melinda L. Meade Meyers, Esq. (Pro hac vice) 
mmeademeyers@dc.bhb.com 
Birch, Horton, Bittner & Cherot, P.C. 
Suite 1020 
1156 15th Street, NW 
Washington, D.C.  20005 
Telephone: (202) 659-5800 
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William A. Earnhart, Esq. (Pro hac vice) 
wearnhart@bhb.com 
Birch, Horton, Bittner & Cherot, P.C. 
1127 West 7th Avenue 
Anchorage, AK  99501 
Telephone: (907) 276-1550 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Festival Fun Parks, LLC 
d/b/a Palace Entertainment d/b/a Miami Seaquarium 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that, on March 18, 2016, I electronically filed the foregoing 

document with the Clerk of Court using CM/ECF, which will automatically transmit a copy of the 

filing to counsel for Plaintiffs as follows:  Paul J. Schwiep, Esq., Coffey Burlington, P.L., 

pschwiep@coffeyburlington.com; Scott Hiaasen, Esq., Coffey Burlington, P.L., 

shiaasen@coffeyburlington.com; Jared Goodman, Esq., PETA Foundation, JaredG@petaf.org; 

Matthew Strugar, Esq., PETA Foundation, Matthew-S@petaf.org; Caitlin Hawks, Esq., PETA 

Foundation, CaitlinH@petaf.org; and Stephanie Wilson, Esq., ALDF, swilson@aldf.org, Counsel 

for Plaintiffs. 

  

/s/ Mark A. Salky    
 MARK A. SALKY 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO.  1:15-22692-UNGARO 

PEOPLE  FOR THE ETHICAL TREATMENT 
OF ANIMALS, INC., ANIMAL LEGAL 
DEFENSE FUND, HOWARD GARRETT, and 
ORCA NETWORK,

Plaintiffs,
v.

MIAMI SEAQUARIUM and FESTIVAL FUN 
PARKS, LLC, d/b/a PALACE 
ENTERTAINMENT,

Defendants. 
________________________________________

DEFENDANT’S ANSWERS AND OBJECTIONS TO
PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS

Defendant Festival Fun Parks, LLC d/b/a Palace Entertainment d/b/a Miami Seaquarium 
(“Miami Seaquarium” or “Defendant”), pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 and 34 and Local Rule 
26.1(g), hereby responds and objects to Plaintiffs’ First Requests for Production of Documents 
(the “Requests”) as follows.

GENERAL OBJECTIONS 

1. Defendant objects to each Request to the extent it seeks to impose requirements or
obligations in addition to or different from those imposed by the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure and/or Local Rules of this Court.  See, e.g., Definitions ¶¶ 12, 15-16, and 19 and 
Instructions ¶¶ 3, 4 and general introductory comments.  By way of example only, Plaintiffs’ 
Instruction No. 3 states that Defendant is obligated to file and serve supplemental responses if it 
obtains further or different information after the date of Defendant’s initial answers to these 
Requests.  This instruction is inconsistent with the language of Fed. R. Civ. P 26(e) and purports 
to impose obligations on Defendant that are greater than those required by the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure.  Similarly, Plaintiffs’ Definition Nos. 8, 13, and 19, in conjunction with 
Instruction No. 3, purport to require Defendant to produce trial preparation documents and expert 
documents that are protected from discovery by Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(3) and 26(b)(4).  Finally, 
Plaintiffs’ Instruction No. 4 exceeds the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(5).

2. Defendant objects to all of Plaintiffs’ Requests on the ground that they are not
reasonably limited in time.  In support of this objection, Defendant notes that many of Plaintiffs’ 
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RESPONSE TO REQUEST NO. 29:

Defendant objects to this Request on the grounds that it is not reasonably limited in time 
or scope, and is not proportional to the needs of the case.  See General Objections 2-3 and 8 
above.  .Defendant objects to this Request to the extent that it seeks privileged communications 
with counsel, documents prepared in anticipation of litigation or trial, documents that contain 
attorney work product, and/or expert trial preparation materials.  See General Objections 1, 9-10 
above. 

Subject to and without waiving these objections and the and the other procedural 
objections stated in General Objections 1, 4-8 and 11-13 above,  Defendant is unaware of any 
formal any analysis, study, evaluation or assessment of the effects of measures used to
prevent or treat sunburn for Lolita.  Defendant further notes that it does not apply sunscreen to 
Lolita, but instead uses different methods that are effective in preventing sunburn.  However, 
subject to the execution of an appropriate Protective Order in this case, Defendant will produce 
the veterinary care records relating to such alternative measures for the period November 17, 
2011 to the present, as well as its animal behavior records and water quality and temperature 
records for this same time period.  Defendant will, however, produce the veterinary records and 
animal behavior records for the period November 17, 2011 to the present which may make some 
reference to efforts to prevent sunburn. Defendant will also produce responsive electronic 
documents, if any, for this period of time from the custodians, data sources, date ranges and 
containing search terms which are currently being negotiated and will be disclosed to Plaintiffs as 
soon as these negotiations are concluded.  Defendant intends to make rolling productions of 
responsive documents, with readily available hard copy documents being produced first, followed 
by electronically stored information within the next 30 days.  If any privileged documents not 
covered by the Parties’ agreement set forth in General Objection 10 are being withheld, Defendant 
will provide a privilege log with respect to those documents with its rolling electronic production 
or as reasonably soon thereafter as possible.

REQUEST NO. 30:  All documents related to Lolita’s interactions or compatibility with 
any non-orca in the same tank. 

RESPONSE TO REQUEST NO. 30:

Defendant objects to this Request on the grounds that it is not reasonably limited in time 
or scope, seeks is not relevant to any party’s claim or defense (the issue of compatibility with 
non-orcas in the pool is not raised in the Notice of Intent and therefore is not part of the lawsuit) 
and is not proportional to the needs of the case.  See General Objections 2-3 and 8 above.  
Defendant objects to this Request on the ground that it seeks is confidential and proprietary and 
no Protective Order has been entered in this case.  See General Objections 11 above.  Defendant 
objects to this Request to the extent that it seeks privileged communications with counsel, 
documents prepared in anticipation of litigation or trial, documents that contain attorney work 
product, and/or expert trial preparation materials.  See General Objections 1, 9-10 above. 

As referenced above, the issue of incompatibility between Lolita and non-orcas in her 
pool is simply not raised at all in the Notice of Intent to Sue and therefore is not a relevant issue 
in this case, and information regarding it is not reasonably calculated to lead to admissible 
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evidence.   See Notice of Intent, p. 4 (criticizing lack of orca companion but not mentioning any 
incompatibility with other species present in pool).  See 16 U.S.C. Sec. 1540(g); Southwest 
Center for Biological Diversity v. U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 143 F.3d 515, 521 (9th Circ. 
1998). 

Subject to and without waiving the above objections and the and the other procedural 
objections stated in General Objections 1, 4-8 and 11-13 above, Defendant states that it will 
produce the animal behavior records and veterinary records for Lolita for the period November 
17, 2011 to the present that contain notations regarding her interactions with non-orcas sharing 
her tank once an appropriate Protective Order is entered in this case.  Defendant will also produce 
responsive electronic documents, if any, for this period of time from the custodians, data sources, 
date ranges and containing search terms which are currently being negotiated and will be 
disclosed to Plaintiffs as soon as these negotiations are concluded.  Defendant intends to make 
rolling productions of responsive documents, with readily available hard copy documents being 
produced first, followed by electronically stored information within the next 30 days.  If any 
privileged documents not covered by the Parties’ agreement set forth in General Objection 10 are 
being withheld, Defendant will provide a privilege log with respect to those documents with its 
rolling electronic production or as reasonably soon thereafter as possible. 

REQUEST NO. 31:  All documents related to the effects of public performances on Lolita 
or her health and behavior. 

RESPONSE TO REQUEST NO. 31:

Defendant objects to this Request on the grounds that it is not reasonably limited in time 
or scope and is not proportional to the needs of the case. Defendant objects to this Request on the 
ground that it seeks is confidential and proprietary and no Protective Order has been entered in 
this case.  See General Objections 11 above.  Defendant objects to this Request to the extent that 
it seeks privileged communications with counsel, documents prepared in anticipation of litigation 
or trial, documents that contain attorney work product, and/or expert trial preparation materials.  
See General Objections 1, 9-10 above. 

Subject to and without waiving the above objections and the and the other procedural 
objections stated in General Objections 1, 4-8 and 11-13 above, Defendant states that it will 
produce the veterinary records and animal behavior records for Lolita for the period November 
17, 2011 to the present once an appropriate Protective Order is entered in this case. Defendant 
will also produce responsive electronic documents, if any, for this period of time from the 
custodians, data sources, date ranges and containing search terms which are currently being 
negotiated and will be disclosed to Plaintiffs as soon as these negotiations are concluded. 
Defendant intends to make rolling productions of responsive documents, with readily available 
hard copy documents being produced first, followed by electronically stored information within 
the next 30 days.  If any privileged documents not covered by the Parties’ agreement set forth in 
General Objection 10 are being withheld, Defendant will provide a privilege log with respect to 
those documents with its rolling electronic production or as reasonably soon thereafter as 
possible. 
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REQUEST NO. 53:  All documents related to Defendant’s advertising that includes 
reference to Lolita or orcas. 

RESPONSE TO REQUEST NO. 53:   

Defendant objects to this Request on the grounds that it is not reasonably limited in time 
or scope, seeks is not relevant to any party’s claim or defense (with one exception noted below) 
and is not proportional to the needs of the case. See General Objections 2-3 and 8 above. 
Defendant objects to this Request on the ground that it seeks is confidential and proprietary and 
no Protective Order has been entered in this case. See General Objections 11 above.  Defendant 
objects to this Request to the extent that it seeks privileged communications with counsel, 
documents prepared in anticipation of litigation or trial, documents that contain attorney work 
product, and/or expert trial preparation materials.  See General Objections 1, 9-10 above. 

Subject to and without waiving these objections and the other procedural objections 
stated in General Objections 1, 4-8 and 11-13 above, Defendant states that its understanding of 
the sole arguable relevance of advertising arises out of Plaintiffs’ allegations of standing to sue. 
Plaintiffs contend that they were forced to expended resources to correct misinformation about 
Lolita, and that this is an injury.  Because standing is determined by the facts existing as of the 
day of the filing of the lawsuit, Defendant will therefore agree to produce  any advertising 
relating to Lolita that was and still in use as of the date the lawsuit Complaint was filed (i.e., July 
20, 2015). 

Date:  November 25, 2015 Respectfully submitted, 

_/s/ Evelyn Cobos____________ 
Michael G. Murphy, Esq. 
Fla. Bar No. 139890 
Evelyn Cobos, Esq. 
Fla. Bar No. 92310 
murphymg@gtlaw.com 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A. 
450 South Orange Ave., Suite 650 
Orlando, FL  32801
Telephone: (407) 420-1000 

Jennifer B. Moore, Esq. 
(Admitted Pro hac vice)
moorej@gtlaw.com
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
Terminus 200 
3333 Piedmont Road NE, Suite 2500 
Atlanta, GA 30305 
Telephone: (678) 553-2100 

/s/ James H. Lister 
James H. Lister, Esq. 
(Admitted Pro hac vice)
jlister@dc.bhb.com  
Birch, Horton, Bittner & Cherot, P.C. 
1156 15th Street, NW, Suite 1020 
Washington, D.C.  20005 
Telephone: (202) 659-5800 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify on November 25, 2015, I electronically served the attached document this day on 
counsel: Paul J. Schwiep, Esq., Coffey Burlington, P.L., 2601 South Bayshore Drive, PH, 
Miami, FL 33133, pschwiep@coffeyburlington.com; Jared Goodman, Esq., PETA Foundation, 
1536 16th Street NW, Washington, DC 20036, jaredG@petaf.org; Matthew Strugar, Esq., PETA 
Foundation, 2154 W. Sunset Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90026, Matthew-S@petaf.org; and 
Caitlin Hawks, CaitlinH@petaf.org, Counsel for Plaintiffs.

/s/ James H. Lister 
James H. Lister
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KeyCite Yellow Flag - Negative Treatment 
  Distinguished by Alliance for the Wild Rockies v. U.S. Dept. of 

Agriculture, 9th Cir.(Mont.), November 20, 2014 
2012 WL 1536756 

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available. 
United States District Court, W.D. Washington, 

at Tacoma. 

Shelby PROIE, et al., Plaintiffs, 
v. 

NATIONAL MARINE FISHERIES SERVICE, et 
al., Defendants. 

No. C11–5955BHS. 
| 

May 1, 2012. 

Attorneys and Law Firms 

Katherine Anne Meyer, Meyer Glitzenstein & Crystal, 
Washington, DC, Brian Alan Knutsen, Smith & Lowney 
Pllc, Seattle, WA, Jacqueline Marie Dorn, Neil H. 
Abramson, New York, NY, for Plaintiff. 

Brian C. Kipnis, Us Attorney’S Office (Sea), Seattle, 
WA, Bridget Kennedy McNeil, Us Department of Justice, 
Enrd Wildlife & Marine Resources South Terrace, 
Denver, CO, James H. Lister, Birch Horton Bittner & 
Cherot, Washington, DC, Roger L. Hillman, Garvey 
Schubert Barer (Wa), Seattle, WA, William P. Horn, 
Birch Horton Bittner & Cherot, Washington, DC, for 
Defendant. 
 
 

ORDER GRANTING FEDERAL DEFENDANTS AND 
DEFENDANT–INTERVENOR SEAQUARIUM’S 

MOTIONS TO DISMISS 

BENJAMIN H. SETTLE, District Judge. 

*1 This matter comes before the Court on Federal 
Defendants Rebecca M. Blank, Eric C. Schwaab, and 
National Marine Fisheries Service (hereinafter, “Federal 
Defendants”) and Defendant–Intervenor Seaquarium’s 
Motions to Dismiss (Dkts.21, 24). The Court has 
considered the pleadings filed in support of, and in 
opposition to, the motions and the remainder of the file. 
For the reasons stated herein, the Court hereby grants the 
motions. 

  
 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On November 17, 2011, Plaintiffs filed their complaint. 
Dkt. 1. On January 6, 2012, Plaintiffs amended their 
complaint. Dkt. 16. On January 24, 2012, Federal 
Defendants filed a motion to dismiss. Dkt. 21. On January 
25, 2012, DefendantIntervenor Seaquarium 
(“Seaquarium”) also filed a motion to dismiss. Dkt. 24. 
On February 29, 2012, Plaintiffs responded to Federal 
Defendants’ motion to dismiss, Dkt. 36; and, on March 
12, 2012, Plaintiffs responded to Seaquarium’s motion to 
dismiss. Dkt. 38. On March 14, 2012, Federal Defendants 
replied. Dkt. 39. On March 16, 2009, Seaquarium replied. 
Dkt. 40. 
  
 

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. Plaintiffs’ Claims 
The Plaintiffs in this case challenge a November 18, 2005 
decision (“Decision”)1 by the National Marine Fisheries 
Service (“NMFS”) to exclude from the endangered 
species list the captive members of the Southern Resident 
killer whale (“SRKW”) population or their captive-born 
progeny. Dkt. 16 at 1–2; Dkt. 21 at 10. By excluding 
captive members of this whale population from the list, 
Plaintiffs contend that NMFS “has failed to protect these 
animals from being harmed, harassed, and even killed, as 
otherwise prohibited under the ESA [Endangered Species 
Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1531, et seq.], and has acted in a manner 
that is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and 
not in accordance with ... the Administrative Procedure 
Act (“APA”) ... [and] ESA .” Dkt. 16 at 2. Plaintiffs’ 
allegations focus on one particular SRKW named Lolita, 
who currently lives at the Miami Seaquarium in Miami, 
Florida, where she has been for more than 40 years. Dkt. 
16 at 3–4; Dkt. 24 at 4. Plaintiffs ask the Court to classify 
Lolita as part of a wild orca “distinct population segment” 
(“DPS”) consisting of three pods inhabiting the Pacific 
Northwest waters around the Strait of Juan de Fuca. Id.; 
Dkt. 16 at 14. 
  
 

B. Sequence of Actions Relevant to the Motions 
On October 27, 2011, Plaintiffs served a notice of intent 
to sue (“NOI”) on NMFS, alleging that NMFS had 
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violated Section 4 of the ESA in reaching the Decision. 
Dkt. 21 at 10–11; Dkt. 24 at 5. In the original complaint, 
filed on November 17, 2011, Plaintiffs brought a claim 
under the APA, alleging that the APA provides a cause of 
action to remedy NMFS’s error in administering the ESA 
listing. Dkt. 1 at 13–14. In the amended complaint, filed 
on January 6, 2012, Plaintiffs added a cause of action 
under the ESA itself. Dkt. 16 at 16. 
  
 

III. DISCUSSION 

*2 Federal Defendants and Seaquarium (collectively, 
“Defendants”) ask the Court to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims 
pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). 
Defendants argue that the Court lacks jurisdiction because 
Plaintiffs have failed to adhere to the ESA’s 60–day 
notice requirement. Defendants also argue that Plaintiffs 
do not have standing to pursue their claim. Finally, 
Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have failed to state a 
valid APA claim. As explained below, the Court finds 
that Plaintiffs have failed to state a valid APA claim and 
have not complied with the ESA’s jurisdictional notice 
requirement. For these reasons, the Court grants 
Defendants’ motions. 
  
 

A. APA Claim 
The APA provides a cause of action to challenge any final 
agency decision for which there is no other “adequate 
remedy.” 5 U.S.C. § 704;2 Bowen v. Massachusetts, 487 
U.S. 879, 903, 108 S.Ct. 2722, 101 L.Ed.2d 749 (1988) 
(“Congress did not intend a general grant of review in the 
APA to duplicate existing procedures for review of 
agency action.”). In evaluating whether an adequate 
remedy exists, the Court looks to the ESA’s citizen-suit 
provision, which expressly authorizes “any person” to sue 
the Secretary of Commerce (who has delegated ESA 
duties to NMFS) “where there is alleged a failure of the 
Secretary to perform any act or duty under section 1533 
of this title which is not discretionary with the Secretary.” 
16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(c). Section 1533 is the ESA 
“listing” provision, which establishes NMFS’s duty to 
properly list or delist species, subspecies or DPSs as 
endangered or threatened. 16 U.S.C. § 1533. 
  
Here, Plaintiffs’ complaint flows directly from the 
allegation that NMFS should have included captive 
SRKW within the 2005 DPS listing. See Dkts. 1, 16. 
Because Plaintiffs challenge a listing decision, the ESA’s 
proviso, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(C), provides a cause of 
action. See Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 171–72, 117 

S.Ct. 1154, 137 L.Ed.2d 281 (1997) (holding that a § 
1540(g)(1)(C) citizen suit was available to challenge a § 
1533 ESA listing decision); Washington Toxics Coalition 
v. E.P.A., 413 F.3d 1024, 1034 (9th Cir.2005) (precluding 
an APA § 704 claim where a § 1540(g)(1)(A) cause of 
action was available). Although Plaintiffs argue that the 
APA claim is distinct from the EPA claim insofar as it 
relates to NMFS’s purported failure to provide rationale 
for the decision (Dkt. 36 at 26), the Court finds that any 
such distinction is one without real difference and, 
ultimately, the ESA provides the “adequate remedy” that 
Plaintiffs seek in the complaint.3 In this case, the APA 
duplicates the remedy expressly conferred by the ESA, 
and, therefore, by its own terms, 5 U.S.C. § 704, the APA 
has no application here. Accordingly, the Court dismisses 
Plaintiffs’ APA claim. Therefore, the only remaining 
recourse for Plaintiffs is a citizen suit under the ESA. 
  
 

B. ESA Claim 

1. Statute of Limitations 
The ESA itself prescribes no statute of limitations, and, 
therefore, suits against the federal government under the 
ESA are subject to the general six-year statute of 
limitations. See 16 U.S.C. § 1531, et seq.; 28 U.S.C. § 
2401(a). Calculating from the date that NMFS published 
its Decision (i.e., November 18, 2005), the parties agree 
that the statute of limitations on Plaintiffs’ APA and ESA 
claims expired on November 18, 2011. 
  
*3 On October 27, 2011, Plaintiffs served their NOI on 
NMFS, thereby tolling the statute of limitations at least as 
to the ESA claim. See Sierra Club v. Chevron, 834 F.2d 
1517, 1523–24 (9th Cir.1987) (holding that a NOI tolls 
the limitations period).4 On November 17, 2011, Plaintiffs 
filed their original complaint asserting the APA claim. 
Dkt. 1. 
  
 

2. 60–Day Notice Period 
The ESA requires sixty-day notice of a citizen suit. 16 
U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2)(A)(i) The purpose of the notice 
requirement is “to put the agencies on notice of a 
perceived violation of the statute and an intent to sue. 
When given notice, the agencies have an opportunity to 
review their actions and take corrective measures if 
warranted.” Southwest Center for Biological Diversity v. 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 143 F.3d 515, 520 (9th 
Cir.1998) (“SCBD” ). “This sixty-day notice requirement 
is jurisdictional,” and a “failure to strictly comply with the 
notice requirement acts as an absolute bar to bringing suit 
under the ESA.” Id. (citations omitted). 
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Defendants claim that Plaintiffs failed to provide the 
requisite 60–day notice when they filed their original 
complaint on November 17, 2011. Dkt. 21 at 20; Dkt. 24 
at 9. Plaintiffs counter that because the 60–day notice 
period applies only to the ESA claim, the Court should 
not consider the November 17, 2011 complaint to 
measure whether the NOI complied with the requirement, 
but instead should regard the January 6, 2012 amended 
complaint, which added the EPA claim, as the operative 
date. Dkt. 38 at 6. Because Plaintiffs filed the amended 
complaint 71 days after the NOI, Plaintiffs contend that 
they complied with the notice period. Id. 
  
Although the Court recognizes the pragmatism of 
Plaintiffs’ argument, the Court cannot ignore the relevant 
legal framework. The citizen suit provision of the ESA 
provides that “[n]o action may be commenced ... prior to 
sixty days after written notice of the violation has been 
given to the Secretary, and to any alleged violator of any 
such provision or regulation.” 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) 
(2)(A)(i). Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 3, an 
action is “commenced” upon the filing of a complaint, 
and, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c)(1)(B), 
any amendment to a pleading “relates back to the date of 
the original pleading when ... the claim or defense 
asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, 
transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set 
forth in the original pleading ....“ In both the original and 
amended complaints, Plaintiffs challenge NMFS’s 
decision to exclude captive SRKW from the DPS listing 
under factual bases that are virtually indistinguishable. 
Consequently, the Court concludes that both claims arise 
out of the same “conduct, transaction, or occurrence” and 
that the amended complaint relates back to the date of the 
original pleading of November 17, 2011. Because the 
original complaint was filed a mere 21 days after the NOI, 
the Court finds that Plaintiffs failed to comply with the 
requisite notice period. 
  
*4 But even if the Court could ignore the strict application 
of Rule 15(c)(1)(B), which it cannot, the Court reaches 
the same conclusions for an additional reason: the 60–day 
period must be a “litigation-free window.” SCBD, 143 
F.3d at 521. In SCBD, the Ninth Circuit explained that the 
notice period “provides an opportunity for settlement or 
other resolution of a dispute without litigation.” Id. It 
“allow[s] the parties time to resolve their conflicts in a 
non-adversarial time period ... before a court become[s] 
involved,” because “[o]nce the suit is filed, positions 
harden and compromise is less likely.” Id. (citations 
omitted). Applying this principle to the present context, 
the Supreme Court rejected the argument that time during 
which a lawsuit is pending—even time when the lawsuit 

is stayed—counts toward satisfaction of the 60–day 
pre-suit notice requirement. See Hallstrom, 493 U.S. at 
26; see also Conservation Force v. Salazar, 811 
F.Supp.2d 18, 33–34 (D.D.C.2011) (extending the 
principle in Hallstrom to the ESA). 
  
Plaintiffs initiated litigation on November 17, 2011. In 
their January 6, 2012 amended complaint, they alleged an 
additional cause of action arising out of the same set of 
operative facts as contained in their original complaint 
and sought essentially the same relief.5 The original filing 
violated the “litigation-free” requirement and thereby 
invalidated the notice. That the original complaint related 
in name only to the APA claim is not significant where 
the APA claim was substantively the same as the 
later-filed ESA claim. Plaintiffs’ amended complaint 
satisfied the conditions of Rule of Civil Procedure 
15(c)(1)(B), involving relation back of amendments; the 
litigation was commenced on November 17, 2011. 
Therefore, Plaintiffs’ argument that the January 6, 2012 
amended complaint somehow cured any earlier misstep 
must fail. 
  
The Court is not blind to the harsh reality of this result. 
Because the statute of limitations has now passed, any 
dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims is, in effect, with prejudice. 
Nevertheless, the explicit statutory limitations on citizen 
suits cannot be given a “flexible or pragmatic 
construction” or be subject to “equitable modification and 
cure.” Hallstrom v. Tillamook County, 493 U.S. 20, 
26–27, 110 S.Ct. 304, 107 L.Ed.2d 237 (1989). This is 
especially so where any inequity that purportedly inflicts 
Plaintiffs is one of their own making. See id. at 27 (“the 
equities do not weigh in favor of modifying statutory 
requirements when the procedural default is caused by 
petitioners’ failure to take the minimal steps necessary to 
preserve their claims (citations omitted).”). For the 
reasons stated, the Court finds that it lacks subject matter 
jurisdiction. 
  
 

3. Standing 
Because the Court grants Defendants’ motions on the 
above-stated grounds, the Court need not reach the issue 
of whether or not Plaintiffs have standing to sue. 
  
 

IV. ORDER 

Therefore, it is hereby ORDERED that Federal 
Defendants and DefendantIntervenor Seaquarium’s 
Motions to Dismiss (Dkts.21, 24) are GRANTED, and 
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the case is now closed. 
  

All Citations 

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2012 WL 1536756 
 

Footnotes 
 
1 
 

See 70 Fed.Reg. 69903, et seq. (Nov. 18, 2005). 
 

2 
 

§ 704. Actions reviewable. 
Agency action made reviewable by statute and final agency action for which there is no other adequate remedy in
court are subject to judicial review ....“ 
 

3 
 

As the basis for their APA claim, Plaintiffs claim that the Decision was arbitrary and capricious in violation of Section 9
of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(b)(1) and, therefore, APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). Dkt. 16 at 15. The Court finds Plaintiffs’ 
effort to craft an APA claim misplaced. Although the Court will not speculate as to the motivations that triggered the
claim asserted in the original complaint versus the claims in the amended complaint, there can be no doubt that the
APA claim arises from the exact set of allegations that support the ESA claim. 

Moreover, Plaintiffs appear to confuse the import of § 706 of the APA. § 706(2) supplies the arbitrary and capricious 
review standard to ESA citizen suits. See Ninilchik Traditional Council v. U.S., 227 F.3d 1186, 1193–94 (9th 
Cir.2000) (APA supplies the “default” standard of review). It does not provide for a separate cause of action in the
context where, as here, Plaintiffs are challenging a listing decision under the ESA. 
 

4 
 

As a result, it appears that the NOI extended the limitations period to January 18, 2012. 
 

5 
 

The complaint requested an order setting aside the NMFS’s decision to exclude the captive members of the Southern
Resident killer whale population, particularly a whale named Lolita, from the list of endangered species. Dkts. 1 at 2, 
and 14. The amended complaint included a request to order NMFS to issue a new final listing rule that includes the
aforementioned whale population as endangered. Dkt. 16 at 2, 16 and 18. 
 

 
 
 
End of Document 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
 

Case No. 15-CIV-22692-Ungaro/Otazo-Reyes 
 

PEOPLE FOR THE ETHICAL TREATMENT OF 
ANIMALS, INC., ANIMAL LEGAL DEFENSE 
FUND, HOWARD GARRETT, and ORCA 
NETWORK, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
MIAMI SEAQUARIUM and FESTIVAL FUN 
PARKS, LLC, d/b/a PALACE 
ENTERTAINMENT, 
 

Defendants.  
 
 

 

    
 

[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING DEFFENDANT MIAMI SEAQUARIUM’S 
MOTION IN LIMINE TO EXCLUDE ALL EVIDENCE, TESTIMONY, AND 
ARGUMENT REGARDING PLAINTIFFS’ DOLPHIN INCOMPATIBILTY 

ALLEGATIONS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO DISMISS SUCH ALLEGATIONS 
FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION 

 
 THIS CAUSE came before the Court upon Defendant’s Motion In Limine to Exclude All 

Evidence, Testimony, and Argument Regarding Plaintiffs’ Dolphin Incompatibility Allegations 

or, in the Alternative, to Dismiss Such Allegations for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction [D.E. 

__] (the “Motion”).  Based on the arguments presented in the Motion, the pleadings on file, and 

other relevant matters, the Court finds that the Plaintiffs’ failure to include a claim regarding 

incompatibility with Pacific white-sided dolphins in its statutory pre-suit notice letter [D.E. 1, 

Ex. A] is a jurisdictional bar precluding the Court considering that claim at trial.  16 U.S.C. § 

1540(g).  Accordingly, any evidence, testimony, or argument regarding dolphin incompatibility 

would not only be irrelevant but also unfairly prejudicial to Miami Seaquarium.  Fed. R. Evid. 
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401, 403.  The Court, having considered the Motion and being otherwise fully advised in the 

premises, it is hereby 

 ORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows: 

1. The Motion is GRANTED. 

2. Plaintiffs shall be precluded from introducing evidence, testimony and argument 

regarding its assertion that Lolita a/k/a Toki is incompatible with the Pacific 

white-sided dolphins in her pool or that those dolphins are harming or harassing 

her in any way so as to constitute an alleged “take” under the Endangered Species 

Act.  

3. Miami Seaquarium’s alternative request for dismissal based on lack of subject 

matter jurisdiction is DENIED as moot. 

 DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this ___ day of April, 2016.  

 

      _________________________________________ 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
 

Copies furnished to counsel 
through CM/ECF 
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